# IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

## YOLANDA G. MIÑAGORRI,

Petitioner,

vs. Sup. Ct. Case No:

SC07-1171

D.C.A. Case No:

3D06-3015

ARCHDIOCESE OF MIAMI, INC. Cir. Ct. Case No: 00-

293-CA

Res	spondent.		

#### PETITIONER'S AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Appeal from the District Court of Appeal, Third District.

Eddy O. Marban Fla. Bar No. 435960 The Law Offices of Eddy O. Marban Ocean Bank Building, Suite 350 782 N.W. LeJune Road Miami, Florida 33126

Telephone: (305) 448-9292

Andrew Joseph Decker, IV Fla. Bar No. 12745 The Decker Law Firm Post Office Box 1288 Live Oak, Florida 32064 George T. Reeves Fla. Bar No. 0009407 Davis, Schnitker, Reeves &

Browning, P.A.

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, YOLANDA G. MINAGORRI, will be referred to herein as
the "EMPLOYEE". The Respondent, ARCHDIOCESE OF MIAMI, INC., will
be referred to herein as the "ARCHDIOCESE". The appendix to this brief will be
cited by page number as follows: (Appendix at). The District Court's
opinion below will be cited using its Southern Reporter page number citation as
follows: Miñagorri, at

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from the district court's decision reported at *Archdiocese of Miami, Inc. v. Miñagorri*, 954 So.2d 640 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007). (Appendix at 1-5) In *Miñagorri*, the district court issued a writ of prohibition<sup>1</sup> which prohibited the circuit court from proceeding with a Private Sector Whistle Blower Claim filed by the EMPLOYEE against the ARCHDIOCESE.

The EMPLOYEE was previously employed by the ACHDIOCESE, as the principal of St. Kevin Catholic School. *Miñagorri*, at 641. The EMPLOYEE asserts that she was assaulted and battered by the Priest, who was her immediate supervisor. *Miñagorri*, at 641. The EMPLOYEE further asserts that when she complained of the alleged assault to the ARCHDIOCESE, she was terminated. *Miñagorri*, at 641. As a result the EMPLOYEE filed a multi count complaint in the circuit court asserting, among other causes of action, a Private Sector Whistleblower Act claim under § 448.102(3), Fla.Stat. *Miñagorri*, at 641.

The ARCHDIOCESE petitioned the district court for a writ of prohibition to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The district court withheld the formal issuance of the writ out of courtesy to the trial court. *Miñagorri*, at 641 and 644. However, as the district court granted relief requested by the ARCHDIOCESE in its petition for a writ of prohibition, this brief will be argued as if the writ

prohibit the circuit court from entertaining the Private Sector Whistleblower Act claim. *Miñagorri*, at 641. Although the ARCHDIOCESE proffered no religious justification for the events underlying the EMPLOYEE's claims, the district court found that the First Amendment to the United States Constitution barred civil courts from even considering employment disputes between religious institutions and ministerial employees, *Miñagorri*, at 641-642, and issued its writ of prohibition to the circuit court prohibiting the consideration of the EMPLOYEE's Private Sector Whistle Blower Act claim. *Miñagorri*, at 641 and 644.

While this matter was pending before the district court, the EMPLOYEE timely filed a motion for appellate attorneys fees based on the prevailing party attorneys fees provision of the Private Sector Whistle Blower's Act. (Appendix at 6-7) The ARCHDIOCESE timely filed a response to such motion for attorneys fees. (Appendix at 8-9) After the district court ruled against the EMPLOYEE on the merits of the action, it entered its order denying the EMPLOYEE's motion for appellate attorneys fees without giving any explanation for its ruling. (Appendix at 10)

The EMPLOYEE then timely filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary

Jurisdiction to this court and on November 29, 2007, this court granted review.

was issued.

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Point I – The district court erred in prohibiting the trial court's consideration of the EMPLOYEE's Private Sector Whistle Blower Act claim. The First Amendment to the United States Constitution does not create an absolute bar to civil court jurisdiction over employment disputes between religious institutions and their ministerial employees. Rather the courts must, on a claim by claim basis, examine each claim and its elements and determine whether the court will be required to interpret religious doctrine or whether excessive entanglement is likely to result. If the court finds that it will not be required to interpret religious doctrine and that excessive entanglement is not likely to result, the court must consider the claim. When no assertion of religious doctrine or belief is implicated, a religious institution is subject to the legal process to the same extent as any other litigant. To hold otherwise, the court would grant religious institutions an advantage not enjoyed by secular employers where such advantage is not required by the free exercise clause of the First Amendment. This would amount to a promotion of religion in violation of the establishment clause of the First Amendment.

<u>Point II</u> - Regardless of the merits of the ARCHDIOCESE's First

Amendment argument, the First Amendment does not deprive the trial court of subject matter jurisdiction to hear the dispute. As writs of prohibition are only issued to prohibit an inferior tribunal from acting in excess of its jurisdiction, it was error for the district court to issue the writ.

#### **ARGUMENT**

IT WAS ERROR FOR THE DISTRICT COURT TO ISSUE ITS WRIT OF PROHIBITION BECAUSE THE FIRST AMENDMENT DOES NOT CREATE AN ABSOLUTE BAR TO A CIVIL COURT'S CONSIDERATION OF AN EMPLOYMENT ACTION BETWEEN A CHURCH AND ITS MINISTERIAL EMPLOYEES, RATHER THE COURT SHOULD EVALUATE WHETHER A PARTICULAR CLAIM WOULD RESULT IN EXCESSIVE ENTANGLEMENT WITH THE CHURCH ON A CLAIM BY CLAIM BASIS

#### A. Jurisdiction

This court has jurisdiction to review the decision below because it expressly construes a provision of the State or Federal constitution. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla.Const.; Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii) This court also has jurisdiction to review a decision below because it expressly and directly conflicts with the a decision of the supreme court or another district court of appeal on the same point of law. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla.Const.; Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv)

#### **B.** Standard of Review

As there is no factual dispute in the record, this First Amendment claim should be reviewed *de novo*. *Post-Newsweek Stations Orlando, Inc. v. Guetzloe*, 968 So.2d 608, 610 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007) ("[W]e need only address ... whether the

injunction imposes an unconstitutional prior restraint on the press in violation of the First Amendment. ... The trial judge's ruling was expressly based entirely on the application of the law to ... undisputed facts; thus, our review is de novo.") This is in accord with the general rule that the Supreme Court reviews purely legal issues under a de novo standard of review. *White v. State*, 964 So.2d 1278, 1285 (Fla. 2007) ("We review the legal issues under a de novo standard of review.")

#### C. Argument on the Merits

The district court determined that the circuit court lacked jurisdiction to consider the EMPLOYEE's private sector whistleblower claim under the ministerial exception of the First Amendment of the United States Constitution.

Miñagorri, at 641-642.

The district court did not consider whether the EMPLOYEE had stated a claim under the Private Sector Whistle Blower Act. *Miñagorri*, at Footnote 1, page 644. Rather the district court concluded that civil courts simply "may not consider employment disputes between a religious organization and its clergy because such matters necessarily involve questions of internal church discipline, faith, and organization that are governed by ecclesiastical rule, custom, and law. *Miñagorri*, at 641-642. Conspicuously absent from the district court's opinion is any determination as to whether the dispute was one rooted in religious belief or

whether any question of religious doctrine would have to be adjudicated by the trial court. The district court found that once it was established that the dispute was between a religious institution and a ministerial employee, then no further inquiry was necessary. "Thus, where, as here, a claim challenges a religious institution's employment decision, the inquiry is whether the employee is a member of the clergy or serves a ministerial function. (*Citations omitted.*) If so, secular review is generally precluded." *Miñagorri*, at 642.

Application of the First Amendment to Legal Actions against a Church.

Malicki v. Doe

The district court's interpretation of the religious protections granted by the First Amendment of the United States Constitution is at odds with this court's interpretation of such protections as set out in *Malicki v. Doe*, 814 So.2d 247 (Fla. 2002) In *Malicki*, this court ruled that the First Amendment did not bar third parties from suing the church in tort for negligent hiring and retention of a priest who had allegedly sexually molested and assaulted parishioners. *Malicki*, at 365. In determining whether the First Amendment presented a bar to such actions, this court reasoned that since the First Amendment was intended to protect religious freedom, the threshold inquiry is whether the conduct at issue is "rooted in religious belief."

Importantly, before the constitutional right to free exercise of religion is implicated, the threshold inquiry is whether the conduct sought to be regulated was "rooted in religious belief." Wisconsin v. Yoder, 406 U.S. 205, 215, 92 S.Ct. 1526, 32 L.Ed.2d 15 (1972); see Sanders v. Casa View Baptist Church, 134 F.3d 331, 337-38 (5th Cir.1998); Destefano v. Grabrian, 763 P.2d 275, 283-84 (Colo.1988). Further, in order to launch a free exercise challenge, it is necessary "to show the coercive effect of the enactment as it operates against [the individual] in the practice of his religion." School Dist. v. Schempp, 374 U.S. 203, 223, 83 S.Ct. 1560, 10 L.Ed.2d 844 (1963).

If it is demonstrated that the conduct at issue was rooted in religious beliefs, then the court must determine whether the law regulating that conduct is neutral both on its face and in its purpose. See Lukumi Babalu, 508 U.S. at 531, 113 S.Ct. 2217. "[I]f the object of a law is to infringe upon or restrict practices because of their religious motivation, the law is not neutral, and it is invalid unless it is justified by a compelling interest and is narrowly tailored to advance that interest." *Id.* at 533, 113 S.Ct. 2217 (citation omitted).

The State may, however, regulate conduct through neutral laws of general applicability. *See id.* at 531, 113 S.Ct. 2217. Thus, "a law that is neutral and of general applicability need not be justified by a compelling governmental interest even if the law has the incidental effect of burdening a particular religious practice." *Id.* at 531, 113 S.Ct. 2217.

# Malicki, at 354. (Emphasis supplied)

This court then found that civil courts could adjudicate the tort claims concerning negligent hiring and retention because the free exercise clause was not implicated. This court held:

A law establishing standards of conduct does not implicate the Free Exercise Clause unless adherence to those standards interferes

with religious belief or activity. *See Lukumi Babalu Aye*, 508 U.S. at 532, 113 S.Ct. 2217. Thus, the "threshold inquiry is whether there is a conflict between conduct that is required by law and conduct that is prohibited by religious principles." *Smith v. O'Connell*, 986 F.Supp. at 78.

In this case, the Church Defendants do not claim that the underlying acts of its priest in committing sexual assault and battery was governed by sincerely held religious beliefs or practices. Nor do they claim that the reason they failed to exercise control over Malicki was because of sincerely held religious beliefs or practices.

Therefore, it appears that the Free Exercise Clause is not implicated in this case because the conduct sought to be regulated; that is, the Church Defendants' alleged negligence in hiring and supervision is not rooted in religious belief. Moreover, even assuming an "incidental effect of burdening a particular religious practice," the parishioners' cause of action for negligent hiring and supervision is not barred because it is based on neutral application of principles of tort law. See Lukumi Babalu Aye, 508 U.S. at 531, 113 S.Ct. 2217.

Through neutral application of principles of tort law, we thus give no greater or lesser deference to tortious conduct committed on third parties by religious organizations than we do to tortious conduct committed on third parties by non-religious entities.

Malicki, at 360-361. (Emphasis supplied)

belief.

In the instant case the ARCHDIOCESE has not claimed that its actions were motivated or even affected by sincerely held religious beliefs or practices.

Therefore, as in *Malicki, supra*, the Free Exercise Clause is not implicated in the instant case because the conduct sought to be regulated is not rooted in religious

Further this court explicitly rejected the same type of broad stroke bar to civil actions based on the First Amendment where it held:

In its reasoning in *Evans*<sup>2</sup>, the Fourth District appears to have assumed that a First Amendment violation will occur any time a court may be required to either review or interpret church doctrine and that the only basis for a court to interfere in a church-related dispute is if the State's interest is compelling. However, the United States Supreme Court has not extended the religious autonomy principle as articulated in *Kedroff*<sup>3</sup> and *Serbian E. Orthodox Diocese*<sup>4</sup> to disputes beyond strictly ecclesiastical intrachurch disputes that have been resolved through an ecclesiastical tribunal. In addition, resolution of the dispute would have to involve "extensive inquiry" into religious law and polity before the First Amendment would bar a secular court from adjudicating a civil dispute.

*Malicki*, at 363. (Emphasis supplied)

Determination of whether the court may inquire into religious motivations for Church actions.

Ohio Civil Rights Comm'n v. Dayton Christian Sch., Inc.

It is anticipated that the ARCHDIOCESE will argue that the First

Amendment prohibits civil courts from looking into the reasons behind the

ARCHDIOCESE's employment actions. However, this argument has been

specifically rejected by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Ohio Civil Rights Comm'n v*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> *Doe v. Evans*, 718 So.2d 286 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) which was reversed by this court on the above stated grounds in *Doe v. Evans*, 814 So.2d 370 (Fla. 2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>*Kedroff v. St. Nicholas Cathedral*, 344 U.S. 94 (1952) (Supreme Court held unconstitutional a New York state statute passed specifically to address as intrachurch property dispute.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Serbian E. Orthodox Diocese v. Milivojevich, 426 U.S. 696 (1976) (Supreme Court held that the Illinois Supreme Court erred in rejecting the decisions of the highest ecclesiastical

Dayton Christian Sch., Inc., 477 U.S. 619 (1986).

In *Dayton*, the U. S. Supreme Court reviewed the decision of the Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit requiring that an injunction be entered against the Ohio Civil Rights Commission enjoining the commission from taking any action with regards to a discrimination complaint brought by a teacher who had been discharged by a religious school. *Dayton*, at 621-622. In *Dayton*, the subject teacher had involved an attorney in an employment dispute with the school. Dayton, at 623. The School then allegedly terminated the teacher because the school interpreted the Bible as prohibiting one Christian from taking another Christian into civil courts. *Dayton*, at 622-623. In an attempt to terminate the Ohio Civil Rights Commission's investigation, the school filed an action in the Federal District Court seeking to permanently enjoin the Commission from continuing with its investigation on the grounds that review of the school's hiring practices would violate the First Amendment. Dayton, at 624. The Federal District Court denied such request. *Dayton*, at 625. However, the Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit held that the exercise of jurisdiction by the Ohio Civil Rights Commission would violate the Free Exercise and Establishment Clauses of the First Amendment and ordered that the Commission be enjoined. Dayton v.

tribunals of a hierarchical church upon the issue of a priest's defrockment by the mother church.)

Ohio Civil Rights Comm'n, 766 F.2d 932 (6th Cir. 1985). Dayton, at 625.

The U.S. Supreme Court reversed and held:

Dayton contends that the mere exercise of jurisdiction over it by the state administrative body violates its First Amendment rights.

\* \*

Even religious schools cannot claim to be wholly free from some state regulation. *Wisconsin v. Yoder*, 406 U.S. 205, 213, 92 S.Ct. 1526, 1532, 32 L.Ed.2d 15 (1972). We therefore think that however Dayton's constitutional claim should be decided on the merits, the Commission violates no constitutional rights by merely investigating the circumstances of Hoskinson's discharge in this case, if only to ascertain whether the ascribed religious-based reason was in fact the reason for the discharge.

Dayton, at 628. (Emphasis supplied)

Therefore, in *Dayton*, the U.S. Supreme Court invited the State of Ohio to do exactly what the ARCHDIOCESE asserts is prohibited by the First Amendment, and that is investigate the employment dispute to determine if a "religious-based" reason is at the root.

## McKelvey v. Pierce

Finally, the decision of the New Jersey Supreme Court in the case of *McKelvey v. Pierce*, 800 A.2d 840 (N.J. 2002) is particularly instructive. In *McKelvey*, the court ruled that the First Amendment would not bar a seminary student's claims for sexual harassment by his superiors at seminary. *McKelvy*, at

#### 845-846. After reviewing the relevant case law the court held:

Although the church autonomy doctrine provides a shield against excessive government incursion on internal church management, it clearly cannot be applied blindly to all disputes involving church conduct or decisions. *Bryce*, *supra*, 289 F.3d at 657. The doctrine is implicated only in those situations where "the alleged misconduct is 'rooted in religious belief.' " Ibid. quoting Wisconsin v. Yoder, 406 U.S. 205, 215, 92 S.Ct. 1526, 1533, 32 L.Ed.2d 15, 25 (1972)); see, e.g., Malicki v. Doe, 814 So. 2d 347, 361 (Fla. 2002)<sup>5</sup> (holding that First Amendment does not protect church against negligent hiring and supervision claim in connection with alleged sexual assaults by priest because alleged negligence "not rooted in religious belief"). "Of course churches are not-and should not be-above the law. Like any other person or organization, they may be held liable for their torts and upon their valid contracts." Rayburn, supra, 772 F.2d at 1171. Thus, the threshold inquiry is whether the underlying dispute is a secular one, capable of review by a civil court, or an ecclesiastical one about "discipline, faith, internal organization, or ecclesiastical rule, custom or law." Bell v. Presbyterian Church (U.S.A.), 126 F.3d 328, 331 (4th Cir.1997) (citing *Milivojevich*, *supra*, 426 *U.S.* at 713, 96 S.Ct. at 2382, 49 L.Ed.2d at 165).

# McKelvey, at 851. (Emphasis supplied)

However, the New Jersey Supreme Court goes further and describes the process the court should go through to evaluate First amendment defenses. The court reasons:

The principles of First Amendment jurisprudence distilled from our review of the relevant case law are as follows: <u>Before barring a specific cause of action</u>, a court first must analyze each element of every claim and determine whether adjudication would require the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Like the EMPLOYEE, the New Jersey Supreme Court believes that this court's reasoning in *Malicki, supra*, is applicable to employment claims of ministerial employees.

court to choose between "competing religious visions," or cause interference with a church's administrative prerogatives, including its core right to select, and govern the duties of, its ministers. In so doing, a court may "interpret provisions of religious documents involving property rights and other nondoctrinal matters as long as the analysis can be done in purely secular terms." *Minker, supra,* 894 *F.*2d at 1358 (citing *Jones, supra,* 443 *U.S.* at 600-01, 99 *S.Ct.* at 3024, 61 *L.Ed.*2d at 783). The court must next examine the remedies sought by the plaintiff and decide whether enforcement of a judgment would require excessive procedural or substantive interference with church operations.

If the answer to either of those inquiries is in the affirmative, then the dispute *is* truly of a *religious nature*, rather than theoretically and tangentially touching upon religion, and the claim is barred from secular court review. If, however, the dispute can be resolved by the application of purely neutral principles of law and without impermissible government intrusion (e.g., where the church offers no religious-based justification for its actions and points to no internal governance rights that would actually be affected), there is no First Amendment shield to litigation.

McKelvey, at 856. (Emphasis supplied)

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