#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### CASE No. SC07-1171

## YOLANDA G. MIÑAGORRI,

PETITIONER,

VS.

## ARCHDIOCESE OF MIAMI, INC.,

RESPONDENT.

### ANSWER BRIEF OF ARCHDIOCESE OF MIAMI

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ROBERTO J. DIAZ, ESQ.
MAURA FITZGERALD JENNINGS, ESQ.
J. PATRICK FITZGERALD &
ASSOCIATES, P.A.
110 MERRICK WAY, SUITE 3-B
CORAL GABLES, FL 33134
305-443-9162

LAW OFFICE OF ROBERT S. GLAZIER 540 BRICKELL KEY DRIVE SUITE C-1 MIAMI, FL 33131 305-372-5900 GLAZIER@FLA-LAW.COM

# **

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

State courts have reached the same conclusion. A California court explained:

It matters not whether such an employment decision is based on doctrine or economics. It is irrelevant whether the action involves hiring, firing or discipline or simply changes the terms and conditions of the employment. The rule is about as absolute as a rule of law can be: The First Amendment guarantees to a religious institution the right to decide matters affecting its ministers' employment, free from the scrutiny and second-guessing of the civil courts.

Schmoll v. Chapman University, 83 Cal. Rptr. 2d 426, 427 (Cal. Ct. App. 1999) (emphasis added). The court added that it is "a hard-and-fast rule of law which applies regardless of the employer's motivation." *Id.* at 430. A Texas court agreed:

[I]f the claim challenges a religious institution's employment decision, the sole jurisdictional inquiry is whether the employee is a member of the clergy or otherwise serves a "ministerial" function. . . . If the employee is a minister, then the "ministerial exception" applies, preventing secular review of the employment decision without further question as to whether the claims are ecclesiastical in nature.

Patton v. Jones, 212 S.W.3d 541, 548 (Tex. App. 2006) (emphasis added). See also Gabriel v. Immanuel Evangelical Lutheran Church, 640 N.E.2d 681, 684 (Ill. App. 1994) ("It also does not matter that subjective employment-related decisions

involve no religious beliefs. . . . The factors relied upon by the church need not be independently ecclesiastical in nature; they need only be related to a pastoral appointment determination."). <sup>3</sup>

Courts have noted that it is not possible to evaluate only secular issues concerning the selection of a minister. A "church's decision of who to hire as a minister necessarily involves religious doctrine. The decision may involve nonreligious reasons as well, but those reasons cannot be separated from the basic belief that a particular person embodies or does not embody the religious beliefs of the church." Van Osdol v. Vogt, 908 P.2d 1122, 1128 (Colo. 1996). The process of attempting to separate arguably impermissible discriminatory grounds for a decision from grounds stemming from church beliefs would itself excessively entangle a court with religion. Id. Plaintiffs have sometimes argued that the courts should attempt to determine whether stated religious reasons for a minister's termination are pretextual, but courts have held that they have no business determining whether a church's stated beliefs are pretext. See, e.g., Scharon v. St. Luke's Presbyterian Hospitals, 929 F.2d 360, 363 (8th Cir. 1991).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>See also Petruska v. Gannon University, 462 F.3d 294, 306-07 (3rd Cir. 2006); Tomic v. Catholic Diocese, 442 F.3d 1036, 1038 (7th Cir. 2006); Gellington v. Christian Methodist Episcopal Church, 203 F.3d 1299, 1304 (11th Cir. 2000); Minker v. Baltimore Annual Conference of United Methodist Church, 894 F.2d 1354, 1357 (D.C. Cir. 1990); Natal v. Christian and Missionary Alliance, 878 F.2d 1575, 1577 (1st Cir. 1989).

The courts have thus agreed: if the employee is a minister, then the minister's lawsuit against the religious institution arising from the employment relationship is barred. This is so without regard for the church's stated or unstated reason for the termination.

## D. The Plaintiff's authorities do not support her position

Against this overwhelming authority, what does the Plaintiff rely upon to support her argument that her whistleblower claim against her former church employer can proceed? What is the legal support for her assertion that "the Free Exercise Clause is not implicated in the instant case because the conduct sought to be regulated is not rooted in religious belief"? (Initial brief, at 19).

The Plaintiff relies on dicta in three cases. None of the cases involved a minister's lawsuit against his or her church, and none support her argument that the courts can entertain a discharged minister's employment-related lawsuit against a church.

Lawsuit brought by non-ministerial employee: The Plaintiff relies on *Ohio Civil Rights Commission v. Dayton Christian Schools*, 477 U.S. 619 (1986), which involved a lawsuit against a church brought by a *non*-ministerial employee, a teacher. The authority thus has little if any relevance to a case—such as this one—brought by a ministerial employee. Indeed, the authority has previously been relied upon by ministers suing churches, but courts have found it inapposite. *See Van* 

Osdol v. Vogt, 908 P.2d 1122, 1129 (Colo. 1996) (Dayton Christian Schools "does not support her position because it involves a teacher and a parochial school, not a minister and a church."); Anderson v. Watchtower Bible and Tract Society, 2007 WL 161035 (Tenn. Ct. App. Jan. 19, 2007). Furthermore, the holding in Dayton Christian did not involve church autonomy; instead, it involved the authority of federal courts to enjoin a state court administrative proceeding.

Lawsuit brought by seminarian arising from unwanted sexual advances: The Plaintiff relies on McKelvey v. Pierce, 800 A.2d 840 (N.J. 2002), but that case likewise did not involve a minister's lawsuit against a church. It was, rather, a seminarian's lawsuit against a diocese and several ministers. The plaintiff claimed that, while in seminary training, he was subjected to unwanted sexual advances, and was forced to drop out of school. In allowing the lawsuit to proceed, the court noted that "[n]o choice regarding [the plaintiff's] ordination or employment was exercised by the Diocese." Id. at 857-58. The court acknowledged the rule that applies in the present case: "where a minister seeks redress for termination, failure to hire, changes in work schedule, or other similar decisions involving, at their heart, a church's core right to decide who (and in what manner he or she) may propagate its religious beliefs, the Establishment Clause clearly prevents review by a civil court." Id. at 849.

Third-party sex abuse case against church: Finally, the Plaintiff relies on Malicki v. Doe, 814 So. 2d 347 (2002). This case addressed whether the principle of church autonomy extends to protect religious institutions from sex abuse claims brought by third parties, arising from the religious institution's selection of clergy. After reviewing the conflicting case law across the country, the Court concluded that "the First Amendment does not provide a shield behind which a church may avoid liability for harm caused to an adult and a child parishioner arising from the alleged sexual assault or battery by one of its clergy." Id. at 351.

It is important to note that *Malicki* addressed a question at the outer reaches of the church autonomy doctrine—whether claims by third parties against the religious institution are barred. But the Court was careful to explain that disputes between ministers and their churches are different. "Intrachurch disputes . . . must be distinguished from disputes between churches and third parties." *Id.* at 356. "[T]his is not an internal church matter. Rather, this is a dispute between church officials and two parishioners who allege that they were injured as a result of the negligence of the church officials." *Id.* at 360. The court was careful to limit its holding to such claims. *Id.* at 365. Following *Malicki*, Florida courts have noted that the holding does not apply to claims brought by ministers against their churches. *Malichi v. Archdiocese of Miami*, 945 So. 2d 526, 532 (Fla. 1st DCA

2007); *State v. Young*, 35 Fla. L. Weekly D51 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec. 26, 2007); *Archdiocese of Miami v. Miñagorri*, 954 So. 2d 640, 641 n.1 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007).



The Plaintiff's authorities thus do not support her position, as they do not involve claims such as the one in this case: a lawsuit by a discharged ministerial employee against her former religious employer. Under these circumstances, the courts must decline to exercise jurisdiction. This is true regardless of the religious institution's reason for the termination. The district court decision, following overwhelming authority, should be affirmed.

II. THE PLAINTIFF'S ARGUMENT THAT A TRIAL COURT'S IMPROPER EXERCISE OF JURISDICTION OVER A DISPUTE BETWEEN A MINISTER AND CHURCH MAY NOT BE REVIEWED BY PROHIBITION WAS NOT PROPERLY PRESERVED; IS CONTRARY TO ABUNDANT FLORIDA CASE LAW AND THE WEIGHT OF AUTHORITY ACROSS THE COUNTRY; AND WOULD NOT CHANGE THE RESULT, SINCE THE ISSUE IS REVIEWABLE BY CERTIORARI

The Plaintiff argues that the district court erred when it reviewed the trial court ruling by a petition for writ of prohibition. According to the Plaintiff, a ruling on ecclesiastical abstention does not go to the jurisdiction of the court, and thus is not reviewable by prohibition.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> While the Plaintiff complains of the use of a writ of prohibition, the district court did not actually issue a writ. Instead, it stated that it would "grant relief but withhold our writ on the assumption that the court below will comply with this opinion." *Archdiocese of Miami v. Miñagorri*, 954 So. 2d at 641.

There are many flaws in this argument.

Argument not properly presented to the district court. In responding to the Petition for Writ of Prohibition in the district court, the Plaintiff did not argue that the trial court's ruling was not reviewable by prohibition. Instead, she argued the merits of the issue. She first raised the question of whether the issue was reviewable by prohibition after the district court had issued its decision, in its motion for rehearing. District courts will generally not consider arguments made for the first time on rehearing. The issue is deemed waived. Jaworski v. State, 804 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001); Blinn v. Florida Department of Transportation, 781 So. 2d 1103 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). This Court follows a similar principle—if the point was not raised in a brief, it may not be raised on rehearing. Leslie Bros. v. Roope, 148 So. 212 (Fla. 1933): Nelson v. Selden Cypress Door Co., 83 So. 286 (Fla. 1919). The Plaintiff thus waived its argument that prohibition is not available for review of the order.

Argument would require the overruling of unchallenged Florida case law. Florida courts have consistently held that issues involving the constitutional right of church autonomy go to the subject-matter jurisdiction of the court. This Court long ago stated that "the matter of calling a pastor . . . is purely ecclesiastical, that the jurisdiction of the church court as to such matters is final and that the civil courts have consistently declined to assume jurisdiction of them." Epperson v.

Myers, 58 So. 2d 150, 151-52 (Fla. 1952). Accord State v. Young, 33 Fla. L. Weekly D51 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec. 26, 2007); Malichi v. Archdiocese of Miami, 945 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006). Following this principle, Florida courts have often used prohibition to review trial court orders on church autonomy. See Archdiocese of Miami v. Miñagorri, 954 So. 2d 640, 641 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007); Southeastern Conference of Seventh-Day Adventists v. Dennis, 862 So. 2d 842 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003); House of God v. White, 792 So. 2d 491 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). No Florida court has reached a different conclusion.

Argument is contrary to the weight of authority across the country. While a few federal courts of appeal have suggested that a church autonomy ruling does not involve the jurisdiction of the court, this is a distinctly minority view.

More than 125 years ago, the United States Supreme Court stated that an ecclesiastical dispute is "a matter over which the civil courts exercise no jurisdiction." *Watson v. Jones*, 80 U.S. 679, 733 (1871). Since then, most federal and state courts have agreed with the Florida courts that the question goes to subject-matter jurisdiction. The Texas Supreme Court recently explained that there is some disagreement as to the precise legal operation of the prohibition of courts adjudicating religious questions. "A few courts conceptualize the general prohibition as a question of justiciability. Some treat the matter as an affirmative defense to liability. But the majority of courts broadly conceptualize the

prohibition as a subject-matter bar to jurisdiction." *Westbrook v. Penley*, 231 S.W.3d 389, 394 n.3 (Tex. 2007) (citations omitted, collecting cases). *See also Pardue v. Center City Consortium Schools*, 875 A.2d 669, 674-75 (D.C. 2005). In treating church autonomy as going to subject-matter jurisdiction, Florida thus follows the majority position.

Argument would not change the result, since the trial court ruling would still be reviewable by certiorari. Even if the Court were to conclude that rulings on church autonomy are not reviewable by prohibition, the orders would still be reviewable by certiorari.

There are a number of circumstances in which a party claims a constitutional right to be free from having to litigate an issue. In these circumstances, the courts have recognized that immediate review of the ruling is proper by certiorari in order to determine whether the litigation should continue. This Court approved certiorari where there is "an alleged continuing violation of constitutional rights during the trial proceedings." *Belair v. Drew*, 770 So. 2d 1164, 1167 (Fla. 2000). Having to continue with the litigation, in violation of constitutional rights, constitutes irreparable harm sufficient to justify certiorari review. *See Tucker v. Resha*, 648 So. 2d 1187 (Fla. 1994) (government officials' qualified immunity against suit). This principle even applies where the claimed right to be free of litigation derives from statute, rather than constitution, as in the case of medical malpractice presuit

requirements. *See Goldfarb v. Urciuoli*, 858 So. 2d 397 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003); *Corbo v. Garcia*, 949 So. 2d 366 (Fla. 2d DA 2007); *Fassy v. Crowley*, 884 So. 2d 359 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004); *Central Florida Regional Hospital v. Hill*, 721 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998).

Since the substantive issue in this case concerns the Archdiocese's constitutional right to not have the courts review its selection of ministerial employees, the issue would be reviewable by certiorari, even if it were not reviewable by prohibition.

Argument is bad law. For the reasons stated above, the argument urged by the Plaintiff is bad law. If the exercise of jurisdiction over a lawsuit against a church violates the church's constitutional rights to religious freedom, then there should be avenues for immediate appellate review of the issue.

# III. THE PLAINTIFF'S REQUEST FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES SHOULD BE DENIED

The Plaintiff's request for attorneys' fees should be denied.

First, the request is procedurally improper. A request for fees may not be made as a point on appeal in the brief. *Reichenberg v. Davis*, 846 So. 2d 1233 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003); *McCreary v. Florida Residential Property and Casualty Joint Underwriting Ass'n*, 758 So. 2d 692 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000); Fla. R. App. P. 9.400(b).

Second, under the statute a "prevailing party" may request attorney's fees. §

448.104, Fla. Stat. The Plaintiff is not a prevailing party now, and will not be at the end of this appeal. The best relief she can hope for is a remand for further proceedings, and under this circumstance would be entitled to only a provisional award of fees. *See Allstate Insurance Co. v. Barnes Family Chiropractic*, 875 So. 2d 14 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004). Even then, an award of fees is discretionary. A court "may" award fees. *See James v. Wash Depot Holdings*, 489 F. Supp. 2d 1336 (Fla. S.D. Fla. 2007). At this early point in the litigation, there is not a record sufficient to justify exercising the discretion in favor of an award of fees.

# IV. BECAUSE THERE IS NO UNSETTLED ISSUE FOR THE COURT TO RESOLVE, THE COURT SHOULD CONCLUDE THAT DISCRETIONARY REVIEW WAS IMPROVIDENTLY GRANTED

We recognize that this Court has concluded that it will exercise its discretionary jurisdiction over this case. But now, with more extensive briefing, we hope that the Court will reconsider its decision.

As we have explained, there is no substantial issue for the Court to review. The district court's decision was the application of well-established law. There is no Florida case in conflict with the district court decision. There is no significant unsettled issue for the Court to decide in this case. The Court should conclude that review was improvidently granted.

#### CONCLUSION

For the above-stated reasons, the Archdiocese respectfully requests that the Court declare that review was improvidently granted. If the Court addresses the merits, we respectfully request that the Court` approve the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal.